5216566 OPY



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy	
DEDUIL	

F.P.,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

JOSEPH MONIER,

Defendant and Appellant.

No.

3 Civil No. C062329

Sacramento County Superior Court Case No. 06AS00671

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a decision of the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court Of the State of California, County of Sacramento Honorable Robert Ahern, Judge

JAY-ALLEN EISEN LAW CORPORATION JAY-ALLEN EISEN, California State Bar No. 042788 AARON S. McKINNEY, California State Bar No. 260630 2431 Capitol Avenue Sacramento, California 95816 Telephone: 916-444-6171 Facsimile: 916-441-5810

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Is the rule that failure to issue a statement of decision when required, a rule repeatedly stated in a consistent line of decisions of this Court and the courts of appeal stretching back more than 160 years, still valid?
- 2. In a tort action in which defendant's answer raises the affirmative defense of comparative negligence and requests apportionment of damages, and where the evidence supports an apportionment, does defendant forfeit the right to a statement of decision on apportionment by making the request after trial but before the court makes its final decision and enters judgment?

INTRODUCTION AND REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW

This case meets both criteria of California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1). Review is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision." The court of appeal's decision conflicts with decisions on point from this Court going back almost 100 years. It also conflicts with decisions of every appellate district, including the Third Appellate District itself.

The case also raises two "important question(s) of law" affecting civil litigants throughout the state.

Article VI, § 13 of the California Constitution provides that a judgment may not be set aside for procedural error "unless, after an examination of the entire cause, including the evidence, the court shall be of the opinion that the error has resulted in a miscarriage of justice." "[M]iscarriage of

justice" means "that it is reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the appealing party would have been reached in the absence of error." Cassim v. Allstate Ins. Co. (2004) 33 Cal.4th 780, 800.

In the present case, at the conclusion of a bench trial, the court announced its tentative decision against petitioner, Joseph Monier. His attorney promptly requested a statement of decision on specified, principal controverted issues as provided in Code of Civil Procedure § 632 and California Rules of Court, rule 3.1590. Two days later, the trial court entered judgment in accordance with its tentative decision without issuing a statement of decision.

The court of appeal affirmed. The court rejected Monier's argument that, under an unbroken line of cases, failure to render a statement of decision on timely request is reversible error *per se*. The court of appeal agreed that the trial court erred in not issuing a statement of decision, but the court held that, Monier had to satisfy article VI, § 13 and demonstrate a reasonable probability that the judgment would have been more favorable had the trial court not erred. The court held that Monier could not make that showing because, although he had alleged comparative fault and apportionment as an affirmative defense, and though the evidence at trial supported the defense, he had forfeited the right to a statement of decision by not directly raising the apportionment doctrine at trial.

- A. Review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision on whether a failure to render a statement of decision on timely request is reversible error *per se*.
 - 1. The court of appeal's decision conflicts with this Court's long-standing decisions.

"Some errors are regarded as so serious that, under any circumstances, they must be deemed prejudicial." 9 Witkin, Cal. Procedure 5th (2008), Appeal § 453, p. 508 ("Witkin Procedure"). Failure to issue a statement of decision is in this class of reversible error *per se. Id.*, § 457; see also Eisenberg, Horvitz & Wiener, Cal. Prac. Guide: Civ. App. & Writs (2013) § 8:25, 8:317 ("Rutter Appeals").

This Court has held since its earliest days that failure to make findings necessitates reversal of a judgment. *Russel v. Armador* (1852) 2 Cal. 305; *Bowers and Gumbert v. Johns and Barker* (1852) 2 Cal. 419; *Hoagland v. Clary* (1852) 2 Cal. 474, 475. Other decisions to the same effect followed through the remainder of the 19th Century and in 1905 the Court said, "It is well settled that, where the court fails to find upon a material issue, the judgment is unsupported, and will be reversed upon appeal." *Kusel v. Kusel* (1905) 147 Cal. 52, 57.

In 1914, what is now article VI, § 13 of the Constitution was adopted as article VI, § 4 ½. The Court continued to hold that failure to make findings necessitated reversal. *J.F. Lucey Co. v. McMullen* (1918) 178 Cal. 425, 434; *Taylor v. Taylor* (1923) 192 Cal. 71, 81; *James v. Haley* (1931)

212 Cal. 142, 147; Krum v. Malloy (1943) 22 Cal.2d 132, 136; Fairchild v. Raines (1944) 24 Cal.2d 818; Parker v. Shell Oil Co. (1946) 29 Cal.2d 503, 512; De Burgh v. DeBurgh (1952) 39 Cal.2d 858, 873; see also Guardianship of Brown (1976) 16 Cal.3d 326, 333 (failure to issue statement of decision).

The Court has never disapproved, disagreed with or questioned the rule in this long line of cases.

2. The court of appeal's decision conflicts with decisions from every appellate district, including the Third.

Until the present case, every appellate district—including the Third District itself—consistently and repeatedly held that failure to render a statement of decision is reversible error per se. There are too many to cite them all. Examples include Gruendl v. Oewel Partnership, Inc. (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 654, 659 (First District); Miramar Hotel Corp. v. Frank B. Hall & Co. (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 1126, 1129 (Second District); Whittington v. McKinney (1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 123, 127 (Fourth District); Morrow v. Morrow (1962) 201 Cal.App.2d 235, 238 (Fifth District); Social Service Union v. County of Monterey (1989) 208 Cal.App.3d 676, 681 (Sixth District). Just three months before this deciding this case, the Third District itself held that "a trial court's failure to file a statement of decision following a timely request constitutes 'per se reversible error.'" Wallis v.

PHL Associates, Inc. (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th. 814, 825, citing Gruendl and Miramar.

The conflict between the Third Appellate District's decision here and the decisions of this Court and of every other appellate district could not be greater. There is a need for this Court's review to secure uniformity of decision.

B. The issues are of statewide importance in civil litigation.

1. This Court has repeatedly recognized the importance of and necessity for findings.

The court first stated the importance of findings, likening them to a jury's verdict, in *Russel v. Armador* (1852) 2 Cal. 305. The judge's decision stating his or her findings, the Court said, is intended to "be the basis of the judgment in the same manner as the verdict of a jury; and it follows that without such decision the judgment cannot stand." Chief Justice Field elaborated that, in a bench trial, the court, "besides performing its peculiar and appropriate duty of deciding the law, also discharges the functions of a jury, and passes upon the facts." *Breeze v. Doyle* (1861) 19 Cal. 101, 104; see also *Garfield v. Knight's Ferry & Table Mountain Water Co.* (1861) 17 Cal. 510, 512; *Jones v. Block* (1866) 30 Cal. 227, 229; *Murphy v. Bennett* (1886) 68 Cal. 528, 536.

A statement of decision serves a number of important purposes, which the court of appeal acknowledged at p. 10 of the slip opinion, quot-

ing R. E. Folcka Construction, Inc. v. Medallion Home Loan Co. (1987) 191 Cal.App.3d 50, 52-53, quoting Frascona v. Los Angeles Ry. Corp. (1920) 48 Cal.App. 135, 137–138. Another significant, perhaps the most important, purpose from the standpoint of civil litigants, is that a statement of decision is "[e]ssential to effective appellate review." Wegner, Fairbank and Epstein, Cal. Prac. Guide: Civ. Trials & Ev. (2013), § 16:96 (bold in original). It "facilitates appellate review by exposing the exact ground on which the judgment rests." Id. "Without a statement of decision, the appellate court has no way of determining the trial court's reasoning; and the judgment therefore may be effectively insulated from review by the substantial evidence rule." Id.

When there is no statement of decision, the appellant faces what is often the death knell of an appeal, the doctrine of implied findings, under which the reviewing court infers that the trial court made any finding supported by substantial evidence in the record, or reasonable inferences that may be drawn from it, that may be necessary to uphold the judgment. *In re Marriage of Arceneaux* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1130, 1133-1134; *Hall v. Municipal Court* (1974) 10 Cal.3d 641, 643.

Whether the failure to render a statement of decision when required is reversible error *per se* is of paramount importance to all litigants and their counsel in civil actions.

2. No existing authority treats the important issue of when and how a party may seek apportionment of damages based on comparative fault in a court trial.

Whether a defendant who has pleaded comparative negligence and apportionment of damages forfeits the right to apportionment by not also requesting apportionment at trial is an issue of first impression. Monier is unaware of any cases treating the issue. The decisions the court of appeal cited held only that defendants waived apportionment in jury trials by not requesting a special verdict on the issue. *Kitzig v. Nordquist* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 1384, 1398–1399; *Conrad v. Ball Corp.* (1994) 24 Cal.App.4th 439, 444–445; *see also Wysinger v. Automobile Club of Southern California* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 413, 427.

In a jury trial, the jury is the trier of fact. Its verdict completes the decision-making process and the court's only function is to enter judgment on the verdict. It is, therefore, necessary to present the issue of apportionment to the jury before it decides the case in its verdict.

In a bench trial, as previously discussed, the judge "discharges the functions of a jury, and passes upon the facts." *Breeze*, 19 Cal. at 104. But unlike a jury's verdict, the judge's decision is not final until judgment is

¹ The court of appeal also cited *Wilson v. Ritto* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 361, 366–369. Slip op. at 16. But there, the court held that defendant was not entitled to a special verdict on apportionment because there was no evidence that the alleged joint tortfeasor was at fault. *Id*.

entered; "the trial court retains the inherent authority to change its decision at any time prior to the entry of judgment." *Le François v. Goel* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1094, 1100. He or she "may at any time before entry of judgment amend or change his [or her] findings of fact." *Phillips v. Phillips* (1953) 41 Cal.2d 869, 874; see also *Bay World Trading, Ltd. v. Nebraska Beef, Inc.* (2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 135, 141 (after filing statement of decision but before entry of judgment, court could amend statement of decision to award prejudgment interest).

Yet no reported decision known to Monier prior to the court of appeal's decision here considers whether requesting allocation during the statement of decision process, when the court has not yet made a final decision, is sufficient. When and how apportionment must be requested is an issue that arises in every bench trial for personal injury where comparative fault is raised as an affirmative defense.

The issue warrants this Court's review.

SUMMARY OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE

The trial court found that when appellant and petitioner, Joseph Monier, was in high school, he sexually abused his 10-year old cousin, respondent, F.P. while she was under the care and supervision of Monier's parents. Slip op. at 2. At the same time, F.P.'s father was having sexual intercourse with her and abusing her sexually in other ways. *Id*.

She sued Monier on causes of action for sexual battery, gender violence and intentional infliction of emotional distress. Slip op. at 4. She sued his parents for negligently failing to reasonably care for, supervise, direct, oversee and protect her from harm Monier allegedly inflicted. *Id.* She prayed for general and special damages "jointly and severally as to all defendants." *Id.*²

Monier vehemently denied her allegations and asserted a number of affirmative defenses in his answer, including comparative fault. He alleged that F. P. "as well as other individuals and entities as yet unknown to Defendant," were legally at fault for her injuries, "and therefore any liability should be apportioned among Plaintiff and all other such parties . . . based upon their respective percentages of comparative fault or legal responsibility." Slip op. at 4, 15.

In a bench trial, F. P.'s treating psychologist and a retained expert psychologist testified that she was suffering from posttraumatic stress disorder attributable to being molested by her father and Monier. Slip op. at 3. Her expert also diagnosed major depression and an anxiety disorder. Slip op. at 3-4.

Her treating psychologist could not distinguish between harm resulting from the sexual abuse by F. P.'s father and any act of Monier, nor could

² Monier's parents settled prior to trial and the court was made aware of the settlement prior to trial. *Id*.

the retained psychologist. Id. But he found that "the sexual molestation by her father was dramatically more traumatic than by her cousin [(defendant)]...[¶]...[¶]... because her relationship with her father was a much more central, basic relationship in her life," and "[h]er relationship with the [defendant] was more tangential." Id.

At the conclusion of trial on April 29, 2009, the court announced its tentative decision awarding total damages of \$305,096. Slip op. at 5. Of that amount, \$250,000 was general, noneconomic damages. *Id.* The court directed F. P.'s counsel to prepare a judgment. *Id.*

Later that day, Monier's counsel filed a request for statement of decision setting forth "the basis upon which the Court awarded special damages, the basis upon which the court awarded emotional distress damages, the basis upon which the court awarded past and future medical expenses, and the basis upon which the court granted lost wages." *Id*.

On May 1, 2009, F. P.'s counsel submitted a judgment to the trial court. *Id*. The record does not show that the court took notice of the request for statement of decision before rendering the judgment, which was entered the same day F. P.'s counsel submitted it, two days after the trial. Slip op. at 5-6.

Monier timely appealed to the Third Appellate District and asserted two arguments relevant here. First, he argued, the trial court's failure to issue a statement of decision was reversible error *per se*, citing *Miramar*,

163 Cal.App.3d at 1129, and decisions following it. Slip op. at 2; AOB at 15. Monier also argued that the trial court erred in failing to apportion damages between himself and F. P.'s father as required by Proposition 51, Civil Code § 1431.2. Slip op. at 2; AOB at 16-18.

The court of appeal rejected both arguments. The court agreed that the trial court's failure to issue a statement of decision was error. Slip op. at 2, 6. But, the court held, under article VI, § 13 of the California Constitution and the similar provisions of Code of Civil Procedure § 475, the error did not require reversal unless Monier showed it was prejudicial by demonstrating that it was reasonably probable a more favorable result would have been reached in the absence of the error. Slip op. at 6-13. The court distinguished *Miramar* and the consistent cases Monier cited requiring reversal when the trial court fails to issue a statement of decision on timely request. Slip op. at 9. Those cases, the court held, did not consider the constitutional provision or § 475. *Id*.

The court then turned to whether Monier could show prejudice and held that he could not. Slip op. at 14-17. Monier argued that, had the trial court issued a statement of decision after he timely requested the court to set forth the factual and legal basis for its award of general damages, the parties and the appellate court would know whether or not the general damages awarded had been apportioned between him and F. P.'s father in ac-

cordance with their proportionate fault as Proposition 51 requires. *Id.*; AOB at 16-18.

The court of appeal held that Monier forfeited his right to apportionment by not raising the issue at trial. Slip op. at 14-17. "A defendant seeking apportionment of noneconomic damages under Proposition 51 must plead comparative fault as an affirmative defense, prove the comparative fault of others, and request that an allocation be made." Id. at 16 (court's italics). Joseph could not wait until after trial to request an allocation. Id.

The court accepted two of Joe's other arguments and modified the judgment, reducing the award of economic damages to conform to the evidence at trial and to set off the portion of the settlement with Monier's parents representing economic damages. Slip op. at 17-26. The court affirmed the judgment as modified. Slip op. at 26.

The court denied Monier's petition for rehearing. A copy of the order follows the attached slip opinion.

ARGUMENT

I

THIS COURT HAS HELD, EXPRESSLY AND IMPLICITLY, THAT FAILURE TO RENDER FINDINGS IS PREJUDICIAL

A. The Court has held in so many words that failure to make required findings is prejudicial error.

The Court has been explicit: "it is undoubtedly the law" that, when findings are required, "failure to make them constitutes prejudicial and re-

versible error." Carpenter v. Pac. Mut. Life Ins. Co. of Cal. (1937) 10 Cal.2d 307, 326, aff'd sub nom. Neblett v. Carpenter (1938) 305 U.S. 297, 59 S.Ct. 170, 83 L.Ed. 182 (1938). The Court twice repeated that the failure to make findings when required is "prejudicial error." City of Vernon v. City of Los Angeles (1955) 45 Cal.2d 710, 727; Edgar v. Hitch (1956) 46 Cal.2d 309, 312. ³

B. Even when not expressly stating the rule, the court has always treated failure to make findings as prejudicial error, holding it reversible *per se*.

Prior to the adoption of what is now article VI, § 13, statutes imposed the harmless error rule. As adopted in the Field Code of 1872, Code of Civil Procedure § 475 stated, "The Court must, in every stage of an action, disregard any error or defect in the pleadings or proceedings which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties, and no judgment shall be reversed or affected by reason of such error or defect." The provision was derived from an earlier statute. Stats. 1851, ch. 5, § 71.

³ In *Edgar*, the Court used language that might at first appear to require a showing of prejudice in terms of article VI, § 13: "under the circumstances here presented a failure to make a finding on the defense of accord and satisfaction of a bona fide dispute would constitute prejudicial error." *Id.*, 46 Cal.2d 309, 312. The only circumstances the court referred to, however, were that defendant had had asserted an affirmative defense that was litigated at trial and, therefore, raised a material issue, but the trial court ruled for plaintiff without making findings on the defense. *Id.* Furthermore, the Court cited *Fairchild* and *James*, neither of which held that some additional showing of prejudice is required.

Nevertheless, four years after adoption of § 475, the Court held that a judgment could not be supported if there was no finding on a material issue. *Speegle v. Leese* (1876) 51 Cal. 415. Two years later, the Court reversed a judgment for failure to make findings on issues raised by a counter-claim. "It is the settled rule that the material issues made by the pleadings must be responded to by the findings." *Baggs v. Smith* (1878) 53 Cal. 88, 89. Other decisions followed. *Haffenegger v. Bruce* (1880) 54 Cal. 416, 418; *Murphy*, 68 Cal. at 536; *Kusel*, 147 Cal. at 57.

In 1914, what is now article VI, § 13 of the Constitution was adopted as article VI, § 4 ½. By then, Code of Civil Procedure § 475 had been amended to its present form, which virtually mirrors the constitutional provision. Stats 1897, ch. 47, § 1.

Yet, the Court continued to consistently hold the failure to make findings on material issues is error requiring reversal. Seventeen years after adoption of the constitutional provision the Court held, "Ever since the adoption of the Codes, it has been the rule that findings are required on all material issues raised by the pleadings and evidence, unless they are waived, and, if the court renders judgment without making findings on all material issues, the case must be reversed." *James*, 212 Cal. at 147; see also *Fairchild*, 24 Cal.2d at 830 (quoting and following *James*); *Parker*, 29 Cal.2d at 512 (quoting and following *Fairchild*); *De Burgh v. DeBurgh* (1952) 39 Cal.2d 858, 873 (citing and following *Fairchild* and *Raines*).

As the courts of appeal have distilled the rule from this Court's decisions a court's failure to issue a statement of decision explaining its decision on principal controverted issues raised by the pleadings and supported by evidence favoring appellant is "error of a most serious, prejudicial and reversible nature." *San Jose Abstract & Title Ins. Co. v. Elliott* (1952) 108 Cal.App.2d 793, 801, superseded by statute as stated in *Arceneaux*, 51 Cal.3d at 1137; *McCurter v. Older* (1985) 173 Cal.App.3d 582, 594, disapproved on other grounds in *Arceneaux*, 51 Cal.3d at 1137 (same); *In re Marriage of Ananeh-Firempong* (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 272, 282 (same).

C. The Court did not retreat from the rule of reversibility per se in Brown.

In the court of appeal's view, in *Guardianship of Brown* this Court "held that the failure to issue requested findings on material issues under section 632 was subject to a prejudicial error analysis." Slip op. at 12. In fact, this Court said no such thing. Neither the word, "prejudice," nor any variant appears in *Brown*.

The court of appeal began its analysis of *Brown* by quoting this Court's statement, "It is settled that, unless waived, express findings are required on all material issues raised by the pleadings and the evidence, and failure to find on a material issue will *ordinarily* constitute reversible error." Slip op. at 12, quoting *Brown*, 16 Cal.3d at 333 (court of appeal's italics). The court then construed *Brown's* discussion that followed as a

"prejudicial error analysis." Slip op. at 12-13. The court of appeal was wrong.

In the discussion, this Court reviewed the pleadings and evidence only to determine whether the issue on which the trial court failed to find was material. The issue was whether it was in the best interest of an incompetent person, Thomas, to grant his mother's petition to be appointed his guardian and authorize her to take him to another state.

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