SUPREME COURT

S216566

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MAR 1 2 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

F.P., Plaintiff and Respondent

Deputy

v.

JOSEPH MONIER, Defendant and Appellant.

Third District Court of Appeal (Case No. C062329)

County of Sacramento Superior Court Honorable Judge Robert Ahern (Case No. 06AS00671)

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Aimee Feinberg (SBN 223309) California Supreme Court Clinic UC Davis School of Law 400 Mrak Hall Drive Davis, CA 95616

Tel: (530) 752-1691 Fax: (530) 752-4704

Email: afeinberg@ucdavis.edu

John P. Henderson (SBN 125222) Law Offices of John P. Henderson 8150 Sierra College Blvd., Ste. 170

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW ON WHETHER THE ABSENCE OF A STATEMENT OF DECISION REQUIRES PER SE REVERSAL, WITHOUT REGARD TO PREJUDICE.

The Court should deny review on the first issue presented in the petition: whether a trial court's failure to render a statement of decision is reversible *per se*. In this case, Monier seeks *per se* reversal based on the trial court's failure to make findings on the apportionment of noneconomic damages between him and F.P.'s father. Monier asserts that, without a statement of decision, he could not discern

whether the trial court allocated damages between him and F.P.'s father as he claims was required. (Slip opn. at p. 2; Petn at p. 24.) But as the Court of Appeal noted, Monier never asked the trial court to render a statement of decision on that issue. Moreover, the Court of Appeal correctly held that Monier had to show prejudice before disturbing the judgment in this case. Monier could not make such a showing because he forfeited any right to argue for apportionment of damages by failing to raise the issue at trial.

A. Monier Waived Any Right to a Statement of Decision on Apportionment.

By failing to request a statement of decision on apportionment, Monier waived his right to complain about the absence of a finding on that issue. Code of Civil Procedure section 632 expressly requires parties to specify the issues on which they seek findings. (Code Civ. Proc., § 632.) "Section 632 is unmistakably clear that '[t]he request for a statement of decision *shall* specify those controverted issues as to which the party is requesting a statement of decision." (*City of Coachella v. Riverside County Airport Land Use Com.* (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 1277, 1292, italics in decision, quoting Code Civ. Proc. § 632) (hereafter *City of Coachella*).)

A party who fails to request findings on a specific issue may not complain about a lack of findings on that issue. (See *Atari Inc. v. State Bd. of Equalization*

(1985) 170 Cal.App.3d 665, 675 [failure to request findings on specific issues waives right to appeal on those issues]; see also In re Marriage of Hebbring (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1260, 1274 [same; stating that parties may waive statement as to particular controverted issue by failing to specify the issue].) For example, in City of Coachella, the Court of Appeal held that a defendant's failure to specify the affirmative defense of laches as an issue to be addressed in the statement of decision waived the defendant's right to object to the trial court's failure to address that issue. (Supra, 210 Cal.App.3d at p. 1292.) Although the defendant in City of Coachella made no request for a statement of decision, the court's analysis is on point: the court reasoned that waiver in that case arose not from the defendant's failure to request a statement of decision, but rather from its failure to specify laches as an issue to be addressed. (*Ibid.* [defendant's "failure to specify laches as an issue to be addressed" operated as waiver; "[h]aving failed to specify that the statement of decision should address the issue of laches, [defendant] is deemed to have waived its right to object to the failure of the statement of decision to do so"].)

In this case, there is no dispute that Monier failed to seek findings on apportionment. The Court of Appeal noted that Monier did not raise the issue of apportionment in his request for a statement of decision. (Slip opn. at p. 15). And Monier himself conceded that his request was silent on this issue. (See *ibid.*; see

also Appellant's Opening Brief at p. 22 ["[Monier's] request for statement of decision did not ask for findings on apportionment and offset"].) Accordingly, Monier waived any right to a statement of decision on apportionment.

B. In Any Event, the Court of Appeal Correctly Held that the Absence of a Statement of Decision Here Was Not *Per Se* Reversible.

Review should be denied for the additional reason that the Court of Appeal correctly held that the trial court's failure to render a statement of decision was not reversible *per se*. Article VI, section 13 of the state constitution provides that "[n]o judgment shall be set aside, or new trial granted, in any cause, . . . for any error as to any matter of procedure, unless, after an examination of the entire cause, including the evidence, the court shall be of the opinion that the error complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice." (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13; see also Code Civ. Proc., § 475.) This principle ensures that a reversal will not be ordered unless it is reasonably probable that the outcome would be more favorable to the appealing party in the absence of the error. (*People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836.)

This Court has confirmed that the lack of findings by a trial court does not invariably require reversal. For example, in *West Pico Furniture Co. v. Pacific Finance Loans* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 594, 613, the Court observed that a trial court's failure to make a finding would not be reversible when the finding would be

adverse to the complaining party—in other words, when the lack of a finding causes the complaining party no harm. Likewise, in Guardianship of Brown (1976) 16 Cal.3d 326, the Court stated that "failure to find on a material issue will ordinarily constitute reversible error." (Id. at p. 333, italics added.) Put another way, such a failure does not require reversal per se in all cases. (See ibid.) In Brown, moreover, the Court held that the trial court's failure to make a finding on a particular issue (the best interest of the incompetent person) required reversal, but only after concluding that the complaining party had introduced substantial evidence to support a finding in her favor. (Id. at p. 336; see also Edgar v. Hitch (1956) 46 Cal.2d 309, 312 [reversing where failure to make a finding "would constitute prejudicial error" where, absent a finding, support for the judgment could not be ascertained].)1 And then the Court went on to conclude that, had the trial court made a finding on the issue adverse to the complaining party, such a finding was not supported by substantial evidence. (Id. at p. 340 [reversing order appointing mother guardian "not only because of the trial court's failure to make a finding on a material issue, but also because, assuming such a finding had been made, it would not have been supported by substantial evidence"].)

¹ Monier's assertion that the Court stated that failure to make required findings is prejudicial error in *City of Vernon v. City of Los Angeles* (1955) 45 Cal.2d 710 (Petn. at p. 13) is incorrect. The cited passage in *City of Vernon* appears in the dissent. (See *id.* at p. 727 (dis. opn. of Carter, J.).)

Monier claims that there are certain "exceptions" to a general rule of *per se* reversibility. (Petn. at pp. 16-17.) But Monier's exceptions swallow his purported rule. In particular, Monier argues that an appellate court need not reverse when "there is no evidence that could support a finding in appellant's favor." (*Id.* at p. 17.) But that is another way of saying that an appellate court need not reverse when the error did not harm the complaining party.

As Monier asserts, some courts of appeal have concluded that a trial court's failure to render a statement of decision is reversible per se. (E.g., Miramar Hotel Corp. v. Frank B. Hall & Co. (1985) 163 Cal. App. 3d 1126, 1129.) But, unlike here, per se reversal in other cases served what Monier sees as one of the primary purposes of that drastic remedy, namely, ensuring that trial courts do not, in his view, "disregard the mandate" of Section 632. (Petn. at p. 22.) For example, in Espinoza v. Calva (2008) 169 Cal. App. 4th 1393, the trial court responded to a request for a statement of decision by noting "that he did not do findings because he did not have a secretary" and that defendants were not entitled to findings. (Id. at p. 1397.) Concluding that the "refusal of the trial court to comply because the court did not have a secretary was frivolous at best," the Court of Appeal explained that per se reversal applied. (Id. at pp. 1397-1398 [reversing for other reasons]; see also Whittingon v. McKinney (1991) 234 Cal. App. 3d 123, 127-129 [discussing application of per se reversal where trial court followed a "special little

procedure," which designated entire reporter's transcripts as the statement of decision, but holding appellant waived right to statement of decision by acquiescing in the trial court's nonstatutory procedure].) Here, the record bears no indicia of the trial court's disregard of a duty to render a statement of decision. As the Court of Appeal observed, the record does not show that the trial court even saw the request for a statement of decision before rendering judgment. (Slip opn. at pp. 5-6.)

C. The Absence of a Statement of Decision Did Not Prejudice Monier.

Review should also be denied because the absence of a statement of decision in this case was of no consequence. Monier argues that without a statement of decision he could not assure himself that none of the \$250,000 in noneconomic damages he was ordered to pay was attributable to F.P.'s father. But as the Court of Appeal found, Monier forfeited any right to apportionment by failing to raise the issue at trial. Monier's claim that he was entitled to wait to raise the issue until he filed objections to a proposed statement of decision is without merit.

Because apportionment is an affirmative defense, defendants bear the burden of proving their entitlement to an allocation of damages. (See *Wilson v. Ritto* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 361, 369.) In the jury trial context, a defendant must propose a special verdict form requesting allocation of damages or else forfeit any

right to apportionment. (*Kitzig v. Nordquist* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 1384, 1398; see also Petn. at p. 7.) A defendant's obligation to bring issues to the attention of the trial court is no different. (See *Del Cerro Mobile Estates v. Proffer* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 943, 951 [claim to apportionment of attorneys' fee waived on appeal where appellant failed to raise issue with trial court].) It is not sufficient to plead comparative fault in an answer as one of sixteen affirmative defenses and then, on appeal, argue that snippets of testimony support that defense. Rather, the defendant must explicitly bring the issue to the trial court's attention.

Monier's further claim that a litigant in a bench trial may surface issues for the first time in objections to a statement of decision (Petn. at p. 21) is incorrect. Contrary to Monier's view of the case law (*id.* at p. 7), parties may not raise a theory for the first time in post-trial objections to the trial court's statement of decision.

For example, in *Colony Ins. Co. v. Crusader Ins. Co.* (2010) 188

Cal.App.4th 743, the Court of Appeal held that a losing party waived a theory of liability by raising it for the first time in its objections to the statement of decision.

There, plaintiff Colony Insurance Company sought a declaration that defendant Crusader Insurance Company improperly refused to defend a lawsuit against an insured. (*Id.* at p. 746.) Crusader took the position that it had no duty to defend the insured because of misrepresentations made in the insured's application for

insurance coverage. (Id. at p. 748.) At trial, evidence was introduced that Crusader had failed to follow its internal guidelines in investigating the insured's application. (Id. at pp. 748-749.) After the trial court ruled for Crusader, Colony argued in its objections to the court's proposed statement of decision that Crusader had waived its right to deny coverage or was estopped from denying coverage based on its alleged failure to follow its internal guidelines in investigating coverage. (Id. at p. 749.) The Court of Appeal held that Colony had forfeited the waiver/estoppel argument because it was neither raised in Colony's complaint nor presented as a theory at trial. (Id. at pp. 750-751.) Rejecting Colony's claim that its post-trial objection to the statement of decision was sufficient, the court explained that statements of decision "cover[] only issues litigated in the case." (Id. at p. 750, italics added.) Because the waiver/estoppel argument "was not litigated at trial, ... the trial court was under no obligation to address it." (Id. at p. 751.) Colony was not entitled to raise a new argument "under the guise of an objection to the court's failure to resolve a controverted issue." (Ibid.)

The same is true here. Monier may not, "under the guise of an objection" to a statement of decision, inject an issue that he did not raise during trial. By failing to seek apportionment at trial, Monier forfeited any claim he had to allocate noneconomic damages.

II. THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER MONIER WAS ENTITLED TO WAIT UNTIL AFTER TRIAL TO SEEK APPORTIONMENT.

The Court should also deny review on the second question presented in the Petition: whether a defendant may wait until post-trial objections to a statement of decision to bring apportionment to the trial court's attention.

As just explained, the Court of Appeal's conclusion that Monier was obligated to raise apportionment at trial is correct. (See *supra* at pp. 14-16.) Monier could not reasonably argue that the court was compelled to review and address each of Monier's sixteen affirmative defenses pled in his answer, just in case Monier later claims reliance on one of them as crucial to his defense. Monier should not now be heard to claim that he was prejudiced by the court not giving an answer to a question that Monier never asked. At trial, the onus was on Monier to specifically raise any affirmative defense that was pled in his answer that he believed the court should consider. Even assuming that Monier was entitled to assert apportionment as a defense, for Monier to remain silent during trial, and then wait until after trial concludes, and ostensibly after a statement of decision is prepared, to assert the defense invited what Monier now belatedly claims is error. Because he did not raise the defense at trial, he forfeited his right to assert apportionment of damages as a defense.

In addition, the issue satisfies none of the criteria for this Court's review. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).) Monier cites no decisions that have deviated from the approach taken by the Court of Appeal here. (Petn. at p. 8.) Indeed, as explained above, post-judgment objections to a statement of decision have been found to be inadequate.

The issue also implicates no important question of law necessitating this Court's intervention. Although Monier claims that the process for asserting apportionment in bench trials is vitally important, he cites no other reported decision in which the issue has even come up. (Petn. at p. 8.)

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, F.P. respectfully requests that Monier's petition for review be denied.

March 11, 2014